CREATING FACTUAL MEDIA
ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2008

CREATING FACTUAL MEDIA

Financial Highlights
❑

Revenue £81.4m, up 18% (2007: £69m)

❑

EBITDA £5.4m, up 39% (2007 £3.9m)

❑

Pre-tax profit (PBT) £3.15m, up 15% (2007: £2.74m)

❑

Net profit £2.8m, up 40% (2007: £2.0m)

❑

Basic EPS 4.87p, up 38% (2007: 3.52p)

❑

Adjusted Basic EPS 6.06p, up 69% (2007: 3.59p)

❑

Shareholders’ Equity £16.8m, up 18% (2007: £14.2m)
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Operational Highlights
❑

Renewal of Teachers TV contract, to a date
between mid-2013 and the end of 2015,
following a successful tender process.

❑

Acquisitions of DBDA (corporate social
responsibility content), MMA (online video
production), Mongoose Media (specialist
advertising sales) and Sovereign
(B2B publishing.)

❑

Expansion of communications revenue
by 40% to £55.7m

❑

Continued consolidation in UK B2B media
with increase in print titles managed
or owned by 50% to 758. Within that,
owned titles increased 40% to 104
publications, and contracted titles were up
52% to 654 publications.

❑

Development of digital output and capability
with 155% increase in revenues.

❑

Public sector-related proportion of business
in 2007-8 was 45%

“This year saw strong performance in the face of the poor economic conditions. The
Company has achieved a number of milestones, and our multi-platform capability
enabled increased cross-selling to our existing client base. The new financial year
has begun with a strong order book in place. We will continue to focus on ownership
of content and its production across multiple platforms, capitalising on existing
strong UK market positions through growth and strategic acquisitions.”
Alex Connock, CEO
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Chairman
Our view is that growth opportunities in the media sector,
particularly in B2B, lie in the changing nature of
consumption. Customer loyalty is now linked to brands and
interests, rather than the medium in which they appear.
In order to address this change, Ten Alps has built a multi-platform offering which
encompasses high-ranking UK market positions in contract publishing, independent
factual TV production and B2B online TV.

BRIAN WALDEN,
CHAIRMAN

By putting those skills together, we can meet the multi-platform demands of
our 63,000 customers.
This approach enabled Ten Alps to achieve a seventh consecutive year of growth in 2007,
through inward investment and the strategic acquisitions made over the past two years.
With product diversification and an in depth understanding of our clients’ changing
requirements Ten Alps, we believe, is well positioned to continue this growth in the
coming year and deliver considerable value to our investors.

Chief Executive
Ten Alps is run in two divisions, each multi-platform
and each housing key digital projects.
❑ The Content division produces, and in many cases owns, high-value, factual content,
in TV, radio and online TV.
❑ The Communications division provides clients with content to communicate their
message to specialist audiences – from public sector bodies to businesses - in print,
events, online TV and websites.
Whilst run as separate profit centres, the divisions share offices and resources, and
collaborate for clients.

ALEX CONNOCK,
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
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Content Division
Revenue in 2007-8 was £25.7m with EBITDA of £1.8m (before plc overheads).
The division has grown largely organically, with total net acquisition investment over
the past six years of c. £3m.
The division produces TV and radio programmes and has a management role in
Teachers TV and Kent TV, as well as radio programmes and its own online TV
projects. It is run by Nitil Patel (also Group Finance Director) from offices in
London and Manchester, with up to 150 staff (depending on productions), and
includes reputed TV executives such as Fiona Stourton, Brian Lapping, Norma
Percy and Denys Blakeway.
This division aims to profit from producing output paid for by customers, but over
time develop significant and valuable rights positions of its own.
2008-9 has already begun stronger than in 2007-8, with robust order books at TV
production companies Blakeway and Brook Lapping, and the first business won by
the new Manchester-based operation, Blakeway North. New TV
commissions include three docudramas for the US market.

Factual television and radio production
During 2007-8 a team at Blakeway produced a sequence of high
profile current affairs programmes which have established them
as a leader in the field. For Channel 4 Dispatches were the BAA
investigation Checking-in to Airport Chaos, Kidnapped to Order,
From Jail to Jihad and Britain Under Attack. Heat or Eat was a
shocking expose of the financial choice facing many pensioners.
Other investigative programmes are currently in progress.
Production company Brook Lapping has spent the past two years
filming a major BBC political series on Iran. There were also
projects on Gordon Brown, Tony Blair and Louis XIV.
Ten Alps Radio continued to deliver high-profile documentaries and
special features for BBC Radio. The Sgt Pepper’s 40th Anniversary
was a ground-breaking cross-platform project for the BBC incorporating radio, TV, internet and interactive components. Other
features included a second series of Classic Singles and the Andy Warhol
biography The Warhol Effect, along with the 15th series of The Smith
Lectures and documentaries about Star Wars, Elvis Presley, Buddy Holly, the
Monterey Pop Festival and Jerry Hall’s Aspects of Love.

Teachers TV
The award by the Department of Children, Schools and Families of a
second Teachers TV contract, after an exacting tender process, was the key
achievement in the first half of 2008. The new contract is significantly
longer; for an initial five year period to mid-2013, with a possible two and a
half year extension thereafter. Ten Alps, via Brook Lapping, has a 75% stake
in the new management company for the project, alongside ITN with 25%.

The wider growth of Ten Alps means that Teachers TV is expected to account for circa
12% of group revenue in 2008-9, compared to around 60% when the first contract
was won in 2004.
The production expertise in editorially high quality, cost-effective programmes,
learned from producing for Teachers TV has earned Brook Lapping other video
production work, for the European Space Agency, the Royal Bank of Scotland
and others.

Online TV projects
Kent TV, the pioneering local authority-funded channel, saw a rise in
its viewing figures throughout the year to 70,000 in May 2008
(against the target of 50,000) and has continued to expand its output.
(www.kenttv.com)
Local authorities nationwide are currently investing significant
amounts on media output already to communicate with their
customers. Ten Alps has 217 existing local authority print customers
and we believe further local online TV operations will be launched.
In addition, Ten Alps is also actively looking at producing and partowning online TV channels in science and other fields, in what is an
exciting growth area.

Content division growth objectives
The Content division is looking to expand by organic growth rather
than major acquisitions. But the division is currently looking at smaller
acquisitions, which tend to be sector-specific, both in TV and online.
Ten Alps is also investing in producers. It is doing joint venture and
talent-based deals to incentivise individuals to create new media
projects with long term value for the Group.
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Communications Division
Revenues from this division for the full year were £55.7m, up 40%, and EBITDA
(before plc overheads) was £4.5m.
Growth was driven by the successful integration of acquisitions in the period
supplementing strong organic growth. The division is run by Adrian Dunleavy with over
400 staff, and offers a multi-platform proposition including print, online, events and
online video titles. The financial models operated are:

Owned Titles.
Ten Alps produces an increasing range of titles and websites of its own, such as Public
Sector Review, Climate Change, UK Power, Offshore Technology, Hospital Decisions,
The Pharmacist, Facilities Manager, Museums and Heritage, The Freight Industry
Yearbook, Director of Finance (matched by www.dofonline.co.uk), and The Pharmacist
(matched by www.thepharmacist.co.uk.) Successful website launches have included the
innovative local authority purchasing database site www.lapod.co.uk.
Ten Alps also owns a number of its own conference-based assets with a portfolio
ranging from Integrated Transport to Energy & Environment. These events are often
created from the subject matter of print-based products, and this year saw revenues
rise by 71.1% and the portfolio increase to 21 events.

Fee-based production.
Ten Alps provides a content production service, fully-funded by the customer.
In print Ten Alps produces titles including Insurance Professional and Young
Performer. Online it produces CSR-focused and educational websites to clients
such as BP, Nationwide, Transport for London and BMW. Content-based
website customers range from ASLEF to the Institute of Export, via the Royal
Yachting Association, Golden Charter Funeral Plans and Ahlstrom
Fibercomposites.
In 2007-8, Ten Alps also produced, on a fee-based model, major events for
corporate customers such as BP (several major international conferences),
Dr Martens (in Ibiza) and Channel 4 (the Skins roadshow), and managed
London’s Covent Garden Christmas Event.

Advertising-based contract publishing.
Working multiplatform, Ten Alps produces hundreds of titles, websites and now online TV
sites for customers where the content is funded by the sale of advertising. In print this
includes titles for The British Chambers of Commerce, The Womens Institute, The Road
Haulage Association and The U.K. Science Park Association.
The addition of complementary electronic formats (e-books) has opened further sales
opportunities for advertising, and Ten Alps has now delivered over 7500 editions of its
publications in this format.
A number of the contract published and owned titles are migrating to pure online, such
as Essex Chamber Of Commerce, North East Business Directory, Mental Health Nursing,
Link2Export and the GSCC Social Care Council, with others coming on stream. The chief
benefit of this should be an increase in margins, as a result of the drop in print costs.
There has been noticeable migration to online TV too, with Vets.TV and Optometry TV (a
direct result of the Optometry Today publication), and a range of others under development.

Advertising sales.
Through a number of its operations Ten Alps provides an advertising sales service to
many established brands, ranging from Newsweek to Private Eye, from Time Out to the
Aeronautical Journal. It sells on Chartered Secretary, Professional Investor, IKEA Family,
Country, Mental Health Nursing, IT Now, Defence Focus, Cycle, Veterinary Record, Internal
Auditing, amongst many others.

UK force in contract publishing
In two years, Ten Alps has established itself as one of the leading contract publishers in
Britain, and is the market-leading public sector contract publisher. The breadth of titles
and customers the Company represents mean that the B2B advertising portfolio is not
dependent on any one sector or customer.
In this period five recent acquisitions have been made, on attractive multiples of
between 3 and 5 times EBIT. An extensive programme of rapid consolidation,
centralisation and development of these acquisitions has taken place. This is likely
to be supplemented by significant acquisitions this year.

Growing opportunity in online corporate video
This is a new and exiting growth area where Ten Alps can develop its offering and
maximise communications production for clients.
We have moved rapidly into online corporate video, producing video content for
advertisers to distribute online. Customers include Manchester Chamber of Commerce,
the engineering company Seacon and Glasgow Concert Halls. Our experience to date
suggests that the majority of UK businesses are considering online video as a
communications tool.
This idea was driven first by the acquisition of MMA, strengthened by the
formation of Ten Alps DFD, and we are currently looking at further acquisitions
in this specific area. This would enable us to establish a scaleable online
corporate video production operation across the UK starting with Ten Alps’ own
63,000 existing clients, to whom four offices are now marketing online video
services at price points starting from £3,000. This has the potential to be a
significant business on its own for Ten Alps, with the advantage over a
banners/click-through business model in online video that it generates a return
at the moment of production.
Many offline clients are driving the combination of video and traditional
communication media themselves. For instance, Ten Alps recently signed a
major, 4-year contract with the Scottish Chambers of Commerce, which for the
first time included the opportunity to produce 22 bespoke videos, as well as the
traditional range of print titles.

Communications division growth objectives
The Communications division intends to continue its rapid expansion by a combination of
organic growth and further acquisitions. Some potential targets have already been isolated;
these are significant in size and reasonably priced, making finance the only real constraint.
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Finance Director
The year has once been again a period of sustained investment
and profit stability. Results were ahead of expectations.
Income Statement
Group revenue grew by 17.8% to £81.4m (2006: £69.1m) and gross profit increased by 21.7% to £23m
(2007: £18.9m) signifying that we were able to continue delivering profitable growth.
Gross margin has improved slightly from 27.4% to 28.2% in the year. Administrative expenses have also
remained constant as a percentage and now represent 21.5% of revenue (2007: 21.8%). This year’s acquisitions have meant that
the Group’s revenues and gross margin are now more weighted than previously towards the second half of the year.
EBITDA or headline profit, a key performance measure used by the board, increased by 39% to £5.37m
(2007: £3.85m), even after both continued investment in the online strategy and TV development. All development costs were
in fact written off directly to the income statement. Operating profit was up 23% to £3.86m (2007: £3.15m) after an
amortisation charge of £765,000 (2007: £24,000).
For the year ended 31 March 2008, the Group pays tax at a rate of 30% on profits chargeable to corporation tax. However
the effective rate is lower (10.3%), driven by utilisation of losses acquired in this and preceding years and an overprovision
in the previous year.

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share in the year was 4.87p (2007: 3.52p) and was calculated on the profits after taxation of £2.5m (2007:
£1.8m) divided by the weighted average number of shares in issue during the period being 52,047,080 (2007: 51,943,330). The
number of shares has increased due to employees exercising share options during the year. The last time the group issued equity
for fundraising was in March 2006 to part fund the acquisition of McMillan-Scott, the core of what is now the Communications
Division. The previous occasion was in 2001 when Ten Alps listed via a reverse takeover of Osprey Communications.
Diluted basic earnings per share in the year was 4.79p (2007: 3.44p) and is based on the basic earnings per share calculation
above, except that the weighted average number of shares includes all dilutive share options granted as if those options had
been exercised on the first day of the accounting year or the date of the grant, if later.
This gives a weighted average number of shares in issue of 52,892,148 (2007: 53,031,885) reflecting the impact of the
outstanding share options as at 31 March 2008.

Balance Sheet
The Group continues to maintain a significant cash balance and held £11.2m as at March 2008 (2007: £14.4m). The balance is
£3.2m lower than as at the last financial year-end, reflecting increased cash outflows on acquisitions and an increase in trade
and other receivables from £16.3m in September 2007 to £19.5m in March 2008, arising from a late payment of March public
sector invoices.
The Group has provided for deferred consideration of £4.71m (2007: £0.4m) on the balance sheet of which £1.7m (2007: £Nil) is
due after more than one year. These relate to earnout payments due to be made over the next few years in relation to the
acquisitions of Mongoose Media, DBDA and McMillan Scott.
As at the year end, the Group had outstanding bank loans of £13.75m (2007: £10.15m) of which £10.48m (2007: £9.15m) is due
after more than one year. The Group also had outstanding media loans of £317,000 at the year end (2007: £298,000)

Shareholders’ Equity
Called up share capital increased to £1.042m (2007: £1.041m) and the share premium increased to £7.2m (2007: £7.19m).
Retained earnings as at 31 March 2008 were £5.6m (2007: £3.1m) and total shareholders’ equity at that date was £16.8m
(2007: £14.2m)

Minority Interests
Minority interest in the income statement reflects the Teachers’ TV consortium members share in the year (30%). The balance
as at 31 March 2008 was £145,000 (2007: £210,000)

International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’)
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 1 which
are based on the recognition and measurement principles of IFRS in issue as adopted by the European Union (EU) and are
effective at 31 March 2008, the first annual reporting date at which we were required to use IFRS.
The Group has adopted IFRS from 1 April 2006. The first set of statements issued under IFRS was our interim accounts for the
six-month period ending 30 September 2007.
The Group’s financial statements had, until 31 March 2007, been prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Accounting
Standards (UK GAAP). The date of transition to IFRS was 1 April 2006: as such comparative figures in respect of previous
financial year have been restated to reflect changes in accounting policies as a result of adoption of IFRS. The disclosures
required by IFRS concerning the transition from UK GAAP to IFRS are given in the reconciliation schedules, presented and
explained in these financial statements.
Nitil Patel, Finance Director
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Ten Alps' Management Team
PLC BOARD

CONTENT DIVISION CEO NITIL PATEL

Alex Connock

Bob Geldof

Tony Allen

Andrew Bethell

Denys Blakeway

CHIEF EXECUTIVE

CO-FOUNDERS &
NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

GROUP FINANCIAL CONTROLLER,
TEN ALPS PLC

CHIEF EXECUTIVE & CREATIVE
DIRECTOR, TEACHERS TV

CHAIRMAN, BLAKEWAY
PRODUCTIONS

Musician (Boomtown Rats),
songwriter (I Don’t Like
Mondays), campaigner
(Band Aid, Live Aid, Live8),
writer (Is That It ?),
speaker, programme-maker
and businessman. Bob was
one of the founding
partners of Planet 24, the
sale of which resulted in
the birth of Ten Alps.
Awarded an honorary
knighthood, and nominated
for the Nobel Peace Prize
2006 and 2008.

Chartered accountant.
Degree in Commerce from
University of British
Columbia. Qualified with
Deloitte & Touche 1998
and came to the UK where
he worked at media
companies Warner Music,
Universal Music and BBC
before joining Ten Alps.
Role includes purchase
and integration of
acquisitions. Also on the
Operations Board.

After fifteen years as a
teacher, Andrew founded
independent producer
Double Exposure, making
award-winning
documentaries and
educational programming.
In 2003 he joined the Brook
Lapping, bidding for
Teachers TV. A driving force
behind its success, in 2006
he became Chief Executive
and Creative Director.

Denys set up Blakeway
Productions in 1994. He
started in television as a
General Trainee with the
BBC in 1980 and then
worked on Newsnight and
Panorama. In 1990 he left
the BBC and worked as a
freelance. Blakeway
Productions rapidly became
one of Britain’s leading
production companies. He
sold the company to Ten
Alps Ltd in 2004.

Tim Hoare

Nitil Patel

Clare Healy

Brian Lapping

Sarah Murch

NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

GROUP FINANCIAL DIRECTOR,
CEO CONTENT DIVISION

CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER,
TEACHERS TV

CHAIRMAN, BROOK LAPPING
PRODUCTIONS

EXECUTIVE PRODUCER,
BLAKEWAY NORTH

A key member of the team
from the very start, Nitil
worked with Sayers
Butterworth before joining
TV production business
Planet 24. Alongside his role
as FD for Ten Alps Plc, he is
CEO of Ten Alps’ content
production businesses
including Brook Lapping
and Blakeway as well as its
interest in Teachers’ TV.
Has carried through Ten
Alps largest acquisitions,
including Brook Lapping
and McMillan Scott.

A founding director of
Education Digital, and key
member of the team which
in 2008 renewed contract
to supply the Teachers TV
channel for five years to
the Department for
Children, Schools and
Families. Twenty years’
experience in the television
industry. Joined Brook
Lapping as Head of
Production in 1997 and
board in 1999.

Major figure in
documentary production.
CBE in 2005 for "services
to broadcasting", including
running "World in Action"
and "Question Time." Many
international awards, for
such series as "The Second
Russian Revolution", "The
Death of Yugoslavia" and
"Endgame in Ireland".
Chairs Brook Lapping and
subsidiary that launched
Teachers TV.

Award winning Executive
Producer, who joined
Blakeway from Granada.
Developing factual
programming to
complement Blakeway’s
current affairs and
documentary commissions.

Brian Walden

Des Shaw

Fiona Stourton

NON EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN

DIRECTOR,
TEN ALPS RADIO

MANAGING DIRECTOR,
BLAKEWAY PRODUCTIONS

Manages Ten Alps’ radio
production. An award
winning radio producer,
programmer and
consultant with over 28
years experience, he has
had clients including the
BBC, Xfm, Capital Radio,
Chelsea FC, BP, 98FM
and Austereo.

Joined Ten Alps from the
BBC where she was
Executive Producer for
Current Affairs, responsible
for numerous award
winning programmes. Since
her arrival at Ten Alps,
Fiona has been responsible
for a slate of current affairs
commissions, notably for
Panorama and Dispatches.
Fiona is also on the
Operations Board.

Co-founder & Chief
Executive. Graduated
Oxford and Columbia
Universities, and MBA from
INSEAD. TV producer
background - Granada, the
BBC and Planet 24 - before
co-founding Ten Alps in
1999 with Bob Geldof. Since
the company came into AiM
in 2001 Ten Alps increased
revenues from under £2m
to over £81m, and
completed 19 acquisitions.
Several times shortlisted as
Entrepreneur of the Year.

An investment banker, Tim
Hoare is Chief Executive of
Canaccord Europe, and a
board director of
Canaccord Adams Plc. He
also has substantial
experience in the financing
of media companies.

Former MP (1964-77) and
award winning journalist,
Brian revolutionised political
television programmes with
his tough interviewing style
on Weekend World which he
presented for many years,
and Walden. He was said to
be Margaret Thatcher’s
favourite interviewer, and
continues to present on BBC
Radio 4. He has widespread
business experience
and was a director of
Central Television.

COMMUNICATIONS DIVISION CEO ADRIAN DUNLEAVY, FD DEREK MORREN

Adrian Dunleavy

Derek Morren

Kevin Bell

Dawn Boyfield

Stuart Brown

CHIEF EXECUTIVE, TEN ALPS
COMMUNICATIONS DIVISION

FINANCE DIRECTOR, TEN ALPS
COMMUNICATIONS DIVISION

MANAGING DIRECTOR,
SOVEREIGN PUBLICATIONS

MANAGING DIRECTOR, DBDA

MANAGING DIRECTOR, TEN ALPS
COMMUNICATIONS NORTH

Former Chief Executive of
National Tyre Services Ltd,
Nationwide Accident
Repair Services Plc and
McMillan-Scott Plc. Master
of Engineering from the
University of Strathclyde.
Management positions
with Shell and Continental
AG. Acquired Camerons,
Mongoose, Atalink, DBDA,
MMA, Twenty First Century
Media and Sovereign for
Ten Alps. Heads the
Communications division
of Ten Alps and is on
Operations Board.

Former FD of Trinity
Mirror’s Scottish Daily
Record and Group Financial
Controller of Trinity Mirror
Plc. Qualified as a
Chartered Accountant in
1988 and spent early
career with The Thomson
Corporation. Joined
McMillan-Scott February
2006. Now FD of Ten Alps’
Communications division,
plays a key role on
acquisitions and is on
Operations Board.

16 years of contract
publishing industry
experience, and has held a
number of senior
management posts in both
private and public
companies. Led Sovereign’s
sales team for six years and
now heads this business
unit publishing c.30 owned
and client titles.

Former school head, then
founder and MD of dbda, a
business which delivers
work on corporate social
responsibility (CSR) across
key issues such as
education, safety and the
environment. One of the
foremost educational
experts on road safety in
the UK. Ten Alps acquired
dbda in 2007 and Dawn
continues its expansion.

Ian Carter

Mark Gorton

Anton Jeffery

Roger Maber

Vince Meiklejohn

MANAGING DIRECTOR, TEN ALPS
PUBLISHING LONDON

MANAGING DIRECTOR,
TEN ALPS DFD

MANAGING DIRECTOR,
TEN ALPS LIVE

EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN,
TEN ALPS RMA

MANAGING DIRECTOR,
TEN ALPS MTD

Heads unit looking after
advertising sales and
contract publishing
services for a prestigious
client base. Previously in
media research & planning
with TMP. Masters in
Strategic Business
Management and a
postgraduate Diploma in
Management Studies. Was
with McMillan-Scott for
eight years before
becoming MD of unit.

Heads unit specializing in
online film and video
production. Career at
Granada Television as news
reporter, producer, Editor of
This Morning, Head of
Entertainment
Development. Won a
BAFTA award for producing
The Mrs. Merton Show.
Co-founded independent
production company, MMA,
which acquired by Ten Alps
in 2007.

Heads event management
operation, after 20 years of
experience in the live event
industry. Started in theatre
before moving to the
corporate and public
events in 1988 at
Imagination. At Ten Alps:
many major events for
Ford, BP and other
corporate clients, plus
major public events such as
London Millennium Eve
celebrations and Live8.

Founded successful South
Coast communications
agency RMA in 1983,
acquired in 1994 by Osprey
Communications plc which
then became Ten Alps.
Attended Somerset College
of Art and worked in a
number of London
advertising agencies.

MD of Ten Alps’ Scotlandbased communications
business Ten Alps MTD,
Over 25 years experience
at several well known
advertising agencies and
across Scottish, UK and
international businesses
and brands. CAM diploma,
MBA from the University
of Edinburgh Management
School and Fellow of
the Chartered Institute
of Marketing.

Sam Morton

Tim Murphy

Jo Phillips

Richard Walters

MANAGING DIRECTOR,
TWENTY FIRST CENTURY MEDIA

MANAGING DIRECTOR,
ATALINK LTD

DIRECTOR OF COMMUNICATIONS,
TEN ALPS PLC

MANAGING DIRECTOR,
MONGOOSE MEDIA

MD of this video production
business acquired by Ten
Alps in June 2008.
Edinburgh University, BBCtrained. Founded Twenty
First Century Media in
2002 and in just five years
Sam built the company into
one of the largest digital
media companies in the
North East.

MD of this media sales
business since 2002,
having joined in 1996 and
become Head of Sales in
1998. Saw through the sale
of the business to Ten Alps
in 2007 and continues to
drive the business forward
in consumer and trade
publishing markets.

Award winning current
affairs producer – including
of Ten Alps’ early radio
success, Sunday Service and former political press &
policy advisor to Paddy
Ashdown. Key member of
the media team for Live8.
Responsible for the Groups’
public relations activities
and offers media services
to Ten Alps’ clients. Also on
the Operations Board.

Heads this business
providing offline and online
advertising sales. High
quality UK and
international client base
includes Newsweek,
National Geographic and
Time Out. Joined in 2003
and worked as the
Advertising Director.
Previously held senior
communications and public
relations roles.

Over 20 years sales and
marketing experience, in
converging media
platforms and emerging
technologies. Joined Ten
Alps after Director role at
mobile marketing innovator
Mediaburst. Heads Ten Alps
Communications
operations in Macclesfield,
Manchester and Gateshead.
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Report of the Directors
The Directors present their annual report, together with the financial
statements, for the year ended 31 March 2008.
Principal Activity
Ten Alps is a factual media company which creates and commercially manages the content for TV, radio, online TV and print.

Results
The results for the year ended 31 March 2008 are set out on page 20.
The Group made an operating profit in the year of £3.89m (2007: £3.15m) and the retained profit for the year after interest,
taxation and minority interests of £2.53m (2007: £1.83m) has been transferred to reserves.

Dividends
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year.

Review of Business
The Board monitors the progress of the Group against its strategic objectives on a regular basis. The performance of the Group
is measured against strategy, budgets and forecasts using a variety of financial and non-financial indicators. The most
significant Key Performance Indicators ("KPI's") used by the Group and the basis of calculation are set out below:

Growth in Revenue (%)
Assessed by year on year revenue growth and expressed as a percentage. Revenue has improved due to our successful
acquisition and integration of DBDA Limited, Mongoose Limited and Sovereign Publications Limited which has led to the Group
increasing its factual content portfolio in publishing, internet TV and digital media services. Ten Alps has seen a 18% growth in
revenue in the year which is in line with our growth strategy.

Gross margin (%)
Gross margin is the ratio of gross profit to sales expressed as a percentage. Gross margin has improved
on last year to 28.2% (2007: 27.4%) and reflects the change in the product mix due to the acquisitions highlighted above.
Growth in Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA) (%)
This is a key measure we use to assess the results of the Group in any one year as growth in the EBITDA figure ensures that the
Group can increase margins as well as Revenue. The Group produced strong growth in the year of 39% to £5.4m (2007: £3.9m).

Risks and Uncertainties
In this section we describe some of the principal risks that the directors believe could materially affect our business. Therefore
sound risk management is an essential discipline for running the business efficiently and pursuing our strategy successfully.
The Group operates in a highly competitive environment that is subject to constant changes. In order to remain competitive it
must continue to invest and adapt in its two main divisions of communications and content.
Risk is reduced by creating and maintaining a balanced portfolio of products that evolves to meet the needs of our clients.
Investing internally in people, infrastructure while maintaining the highest quality in the factual media content we produce and
manage will further mitigate these risks.

Acquisitions
One of our major strategies is acquiring new business for our divisions which inevitably exposes us to the risks associated with
acquisitions. Examples of such risks include:
❑ Finding suitable acquisition targets at the right multiples
❑ Integrating the acquired companies into Ten Alps
❑ Adjusting to the new financial environment due to the global credit crunch
In addition, potential difficulties inherent in mergers and acquisitions may adversely affect the results of an acquisition. These
include delays in implementation or unexpected costs or liabilities, as well as the risk of failing to realise operating benefits or
synergies from completed transactions.
To mitigate these risks the Group follows:
❑ A tried and tested procedure for integrating acquisitions
❑ Applies strict financial criteria to any potential acquisition
❑ A formal legal, financial and tax due diligence process
❑ Constant monitoring and review of the acquisition

Publishing Advertising Revenue
A significant proportion of our revenues derive from this sector. This sector tends to be cyclical, is sensitive to any economic
slowdown or recession and there is also increasing competition for these revenues especially from online advertising.
We address these risks by ensuring we have a wide range of B2B clients. In addition we are migrating our B2B media
businesses from their traditional print base to incorporate a higher proportion of event and online revenue. We are also
investing in both print and online data services which do not experience the cycle of advertising spend.

Significant Contract
Teachers’ TV (which Brook Lapping, a Ten Alps-owned company, launched for the Department for Children, Families and
Schools (DCFS)) continues to be a successful broadcast channel as well as a market leader in internet TV distribution, with over
2,500 programmes databased online. The current contract with the DCFS, c£10-11m per year in revenues, has been renewed for
another five years to 2013 with a possible two and half-year extension thereafter.

Key Management Staff
We operate in an industry sector that is attractive for potential employees but there is intense competition for experienced and
highly skilled individuals. We face risks of failing to recruit and retain the highest qualified and able staff. As we cannot predict
the future calibre and availability of these people, we place significant emphasis on succession planning by developing and
retaining management talent.
We do this by
❑ A number of incentive schemes to attract key senior managers and staff
❑ Training and motivating staff
❑ Career opportunities across the Group

Directors and their interests
The Directors who served during the year were as follows:
A.M. Connock
N. Patel
A.B. Walden*
R.F.Z. Geldof KBE*
T Hoare *
*Non-Executive
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According to the register of Directors' interests maintained under the Companies Act, the following interests in the
shares of Group companies were held by the Directors in office at the year end:

A.M. Connock
N. Patel
A.B. Walden
R.F.Z. Geldof KBE
T Hoare

Nature of interest
Beneficial
Beneficial
Beneficial
Beneficial
Beneficial

Ordinary Shares of 2p each
1 April 2007
31 March 2008
3,223,181
3,223,181
68,750
68,750
3,642,116
3,642,116
-

Options over 2p ordinary shares of the Company were held by the following:
At 31 March
A.M. Connock
R.F.Z. Geldof KBE
N. Patel

As at 31 March
2007
148,750
100,000
148,750
100,000
148,750
100,000

Exercise
2008
148,750
100,000
148,750
100,000
148,750
100,000

Dates normally
price
23p
67.5p
23p
67.5p
23p
67.5p

exercisable
2002 to 2010
2006 to 2116
2002 to 2010
2006 to 2116
2002 to 2010
2006 to 2116

Material Contracts
At no time during the year did any serving Director have a material contract with the Group.

Substantial Shareholdings
The Company has been informed of the following shareholdings at 6 June 2008 each representing 3% or more of the current
issued share capital:
Capital Research Global Investors
Herald Investment Management Ltd
Rathbone Investment Management Ltd
UBS Wealth Management (UK) Ltd
Liontrust Asset Management PLC
AXA Framlington Investment Management Ltd
Canaccord Adams Limited
Horseman Capital Management, Ltd
New Star Asset Management Limited

8.47%
8.39%
8.11%
5.58%
5.36%
5.21%
4.06%
3.20%
3.07%

Share Capital
Details of share capital are given in Note 18 to the financial statements.

Suppliers' Payment Policy
The Group's policy is to agree the terms of payment with each supplier and to abide by those terms. Creditor settlement time
for the year ended 31 March 2008 was 69 days (2007: 59 days).

Employees
The Group operates an equal opportunities employment policy. The Group's policy on recruitment, development, training
and promotion includes provision to give full and fair consideration to disabled persons, having particular regard to their
aptitudes and abilities.
The Group appreciates and values the input of all its employees and encourages development and training to enhance
employee skills. The Group ensures that employees are aware of any important matters that may impact on the performance
of the Group.

Corporate Governance
The Board consists of a Non-Executive Chairman, two Non-Executive Directors, the Chief Executive and the Finance Director
and their biographies appear on page 11. The Board meets regularly and is responsible for reviewing and approving Group
strategy, budgets and plans, major items of capital expenditure and possible acquisitions and investments.
The differing roles of Chairman and Chief Executive are acknowledged by the Board. The Chairman is required to conduct
Board meetings of shareholders and to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed in order to take full and constructive part
in Board discussions. The Chief Executive is required to develop and lead business strategies and processes to enable the
Group's business to meet the requirements of its shareholders.
The Board has established an Audit Committee and a Remuneration Committee with formally delegated duties and
responsibilities. The Audit Committee consists of Brian Walden, Bob Geldof and Tim Hoare all Non-Executive Directors. The
Audit Committee meets at least twice each year and is responsible for ensuring that the financial performance of the Group is
properly monitored and reported on, for meeting the auditors and reviewing reports from auditors relating to accounts and
internal control systems.
The Remuneration Committee also consists of Brian Walden, Bob Geldof and Tim Hoare. The Remuneration Committee reviews
the performance of the Executive Directors, sets the scale and structure of their remuneration and reviews the basis for their
service agreements with due regard to the interests of shareholders.

Going Concern
After making appropriate enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group during the course of
undertaking its anticipated level of activities, will have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group uses various financial instruments these include loans, cash and various items, such as trade receivables and trade
payables that arise directly from its operations. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
company's operations.
An analysis of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities (excluding short term trade receivables and trade payables), together
with the associated financial risks, are set out in Note 15.
The main risks arising from the company's financial instruments are market risk, cash flow interest rate risk and liquidity risk.
The directors review and agree policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below. These policies have
remained unchanged from previous years.

Market risk
Market risk encompasses three types of risk, being currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and price risk. The company's
policies for managing fair value interest rate risk are considered along with those for managing cash flow interest rate risk and
are set out in the subsection entitled "interest rate risk" below.

Currency risk
The Group’s sales are primarily invoiced in sterling and occasionally in US dollars and euros. The Directors continually monitor
currency exposure.

Liquidity risk
The Group seeks to manage financial risk by ensuring sufficient liquidity is available to meet foreseeable needs and to invest
cash assets safely and profitably.
The maturity of borrowings is set out in notes 14 and 15 to the financial statements.

Interest rate risk
The Group finances its operations through a mixture of retained profits and bank borrowings. The Group’s exposure to interest
rate fluctuations on its borrowings is managed by the use of floating facilities.
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International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
The Group has adopted IFRS for the first time in the Group’s Annual Report for the year ending 31 March 2008. The Group’s
has already restated the results for the year ended 31 March 2007 in its interim report.
The Group has identified that, other than changes to the presentation of the primary statements and accompanying notes under
IAS1 and IAS14, the principle differences between IFRS and the Group's UK GAAP accounting policies relate to IFRS3: "Business
Combinations" and IAS12: "Income Taxes". IAS 12 "Income taxes" requires deferred tax to be provided on all temporary differences
rather than only timing differences under UK GAAP.

Auditors
A resolution to re-appoint Grant Thornton as auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting is to be held at 9 Savoy Street, London WC2E 7HR. Notice of the meeting is set out at the end of
the Report and Accounts.
In addition to the adoption of the Accounts, the reappointment of the auditors and the re-election of Nitil Patel as director,
there are four other matters which will be considered at the Annual General Meeting. Please note that as part of development
of a documentary project about a year in the life of the company, this meeting may be filmed, and attendance at the meeting
implies agreement to appear in the documentary without payment or other rights.
The first is that the Articles of Association of the Company be amended by deleting in the present Article 31.2, the words
“two times” and replacing them with the words “five times”. This will increase the Company’s borrowing limit from two times
shareholders’ equity to five times.
The second is to give the Directors general power to allot shares up to an aggregate nominal amount of £521,020 (equal to
approximately 50% of the issued ordinary share capital as at the date of this report).
The third is to give the Directors authority to issue shares having an aggregate nominal value of £156,306 (being 15% of the
issued ordinary share capital as at the date of this report) for cash without first offering them to the existing shareholders
on a pro-rata basis.
The fourth is to give the Directors authority to purchase some of the Company’s ordinary shares in the market. No purchase
would be made unless the Directors were of the opinion that it would result in an increase in earnings per share, the authority
would be used with discretion and purchases would be made only from funds not required for other purposes and in the light
of prevailing market conditions. The Directors would also take into account the Company’s cash resources, the effect of gearing
and other possible investment opportunities before deciding whether to exercise this authority.
The proposed authority will be limited by the terms of the special resolution to the purchase of up to 7,810,102 ordinary shares,
which represents 14.99 per cent of the issued ordinary share capital as at 31 March 2008. The minimum price payable per share
would be its nominal amount (this being 2p) and the maximum price (exclusive of expenses) would be five per cent above the
average of the middle market quotation of the ordinary shares, derived from the London Stock Exchange, for the five business
days immediately preceding any purchase. Any such purchases would be made on the market and would be paid for out of
distributable profits. Shares purchased would be cancelled. The authorised ordinary share capital figure would remain unaffected.
Details of any shares purchased pursuant to the proposed authority will be notified to a Regulatory Information Service as
soon as possible and in any event by 7.30a.m. on the business day following the purchase and the Registrar of Companies will
be so notified within 28 days. Details will also be included in the Company’s Annual Report in respect of the financial period in
which any purchases take place.
Each of these authorities will expire on the earlier of one year from the passing of the resolution and the date of the 2009
Annual General Meeting.
By order of the Board
Nitil Patel, Secretary

Statement of Directors Responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors
have elected to prepare financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The
financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as
at the end of the financial period and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period.
In preparing those financial statements, the Directors are required to:
❑ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently
❑ make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent
❑ state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departure disclosed and
explained in the financial statements
❑ prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group will
continue in business
The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Company and the Group and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the
Company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
In so far as the directors are aware:
there is no relevant audit information of which the company's auditors are unaware; and the directors have taken all steps that
they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are
aware of that information.
On behalf of the board
Nitil Patel
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Report of the independent auditor to
the members of Ten Alps plc
We have audited the group and parent company financial statements (the 'financial statements') of Ten Alps plc for the year ended
31 March 2008 which comprise the principal accounting policies, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated and parent
company balance sheets, the consolidated cash flow statement, the consolidated statement of changes in shareholders' equity, and
notes 1 to 29. These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in
an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors' responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the group financial statements in accordance with United
Kingdom law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and for preparing the
parent company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom law and Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities.
Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements
have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you whether in our opinion the
information given in the Report of the Directors is consistent with the financial statements.
In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the
information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding directors' remuneration and other
transactions is not disclosed.
We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial
statements. The other information comprises only the Chairman's statement, Chief Executive's statement, Finance Director's Report
and the Report of the Directors. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or
material inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices
Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of
the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group's and company's circumstances,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to
provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of information in the financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion:
❑ the group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of the
state of the group's affairs as at 31 March 2008 and of its profit for the year then ended
❑ the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985
❑ the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice, of the state of the parent company's affairs as at 31 March 2008
❑ the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and
❑ the information given in the Report of the Directors is consistent with the financial statements.
GRANT THORNTON UK LLP, REGISTERED AUDITOR, CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS, LONDON. 16 June 2008

Consolidated income statement

Notes
Revenue

Year ended
31 March
2008
£'000

Year ended
31 March
2007
£'000

2

81,389

69,045

Operating costs before amortisation of intangible assets
Earnings before interest, tax and amortisation (EBITA)
Amortisation of intangible assets

9

(76,766)
4,623
(765)

(65,875)
3,170
(24)

Total operating costs

3

(77,531)

(65,899)

3,858

3,146

Finance costs
Finance income

6
6

(1,060)
354

(684)
281

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

7

3,152
(324)

2,743
(708)

Profit for the year

2,828

2,035

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Minority interest

2,533
295

1,826
209

2,828

2,035

4.87 p
4.79 p

3.52 p
3.44 p

Operating profit

Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

8
8

All results for the Group are derived from continuing operations in both the current and prior year.
The accompanying principal accounting policies and notes from part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated balance sheet

Note

As at
31 March
2008
£'000

As at
31 March
2007
£'000

9
9
10
16

23,106
4,023
1,870
–

16,210
1,445
1,650
317

28,999

19,622

3,603
19,459
11,148

2,762
11,194
14,368

34,210

28,324

(29,473)
(539)
(3,642)
(25)

(22,303)
(414)
(1,087)
–

(33,679)

(23,804)

531

4,520

(10,564)
(25)
(128)
(1,888)

(9,472)
–
–
(235)

(12,605)

(9,707)

16,925

14,435

1,042
7,198
2,930
5,610

7,190
2,930
3,064

Total attributable to equity shareholders of parent
Minority interest

16,780
145

14,225
210

Total equity

16,925

14,435

Assets
Non-current
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

11
12

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Current tax liabilities
Borrowings and other financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments

13
14
15

Net current assets
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings and other financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Deferred tax
Other liabilities

14
15
16
13

Net assets
Equity
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Merger reserve
Retained earnings

18
18

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board on 16 June 2008 and are signed on its behalf by

Alex Connock

Nitil Patel

1,041

Consolidated cash flow statement
Year ended
31 March
2008
£'000

Year to
31 March
2007
£'000

2,828

2,035

324
767
765
1,060
(354)
13
(5)

708
685
24
684
(281)
23
2

Decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
Decrease in trade and other payables

5,398
874
(7,152)
(870)

3,880
590
2,632
(2,168)

Cash (used in)/generated from operations
Finance costs paid
Finance income received
Foreign exchange loss on media loans
Tax paid

(1,750)
(1,010)
354
19
(315)

4,934
(684)
281
5
(712)

Net cash flows (used in)/from operating activities

(2,702)

3,824

Investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings, net of cash and overdrafts acquired
Payment of deferred consideration
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds of sale of property, plant and equipment
Development of websites

(2,823)
–
(961)
131
(106)

(1,430)
(1,075)
(642)
21
(104)

Net cash flows used in investing activities

(3,759)

(3,230)

Financing activities
Issue of ordinary share capital
Borrowings repaid
Borrowings received
Capital element of finance lease payments
Dividends paid to minority interests

9
(1,000)
4,600
(8)
(360)

67
(2,263)
1,800
(45)
(300)

Net cash flows from financing activities

3,241

(741)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April

(3,220)
14,368

(147)
14,515

11,148

14,368

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the period
Adjustments for:
Income tax expense
Depreciation
Amortisation and impairment of intangibles
Finance costs
Finance income
Share based payment charge
(Profit)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Balance at 1 April 2006

Share
capital
£'000

Share
premium
£'000

Merger
reserve
£'000

Total
attributable
Retained
to equity
earnings shareholders
£'000
£'000

Minority
interest
£'000

Total
equity
£'000
12,610

1,035

7,129

2,930

1,215

12,309

301

Profit for the Year

–

–

–

1,826

1,826

209

2,035

Total recognised income and expense
Equity-settled share-based payments
Dividends paid
Shares issued

–
–
–
6

–
–
–
61

–
–
–
–

1,826
23
–
–

1,826
23
–
67

209
–
(300)
–

2,035
23
(300)
67

Balance at 31 March 2007

1,041

7,190

2,930

3,064

14,225

210

14,435

Balance at 1 April 2007

1,041

7,190

2,930

3,064

14,225

210

14,435

Profit for the Year

–

–

–

2,533

2,533

295

2,828

Total recognised income and expense
Equity-settled share-based payments
Dividends paid
Shares issued

–
–
–
1

–
–
–
8

–
–
–
–

2,533
13
–
–

2,533
13
–
9

295
–
(360)
–

2,828
13
(360)
9

1,042

7,198

2,930

5,610

16,780

145

16,925

Balance at 31 March 2008

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
1) ACCOUNTING POLICIES
General Information
Ten Alps plc and its subsidiaries (the Group) is a factual media company which provides and manages content on TV, radio,
online TV and print.
Ten Alps plc is the Group’s ultimate parent and is a public listed company incorporated in Scotland. The address of its
registered office is Great Michael House, 14 The Links Place, Edinburgh, EH6 7EZ. Its shares are listed on the Alternative
Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange.
These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 16 June 2008.
Basis of Preparation
The financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union (EU) and the Companies Act 1985 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.
The financial statements have been prepared primarily under the historical cost convention. Areas where other bases are
applied are identified in the accounting policies below.
Following the transition to IFRS, the Group’s accounting policies as set out below have been applied consistently throughout
the Group to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated. The Group’s consolidated financial statements were prepared
in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting (“UK GAAP”) principles until 31 March 2007.
Transition to adopted IFRSs
IFRS 1 sets out the requirements for the first time adoption of IFRS. The Group is required to establish its IFRS accounting
policies for the year to 31 March 2008 and, in general, apply these retrospectively to determine the IFRS opening balance
sheet at its date of transition, 1 April 2006. The Group has elected not to apply IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”
retrospectively to business combinations prior to 1 April 2006.
IFRSs not yet adopted or applied
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations which have not been
applied in these financial statements were in issue but not yet effective:
• IAS1
Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised)
• IAS 23
Borrowing Costs (Amendments)
• IAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (Amended)
• IFRS 2
Share Based Payment: Vesting Conditions and Cancellations (Amendments)

• IFRS 3
• IFRS 8
• IFRIC 12
• IFRIC 13
• IFRIC 14

Business Combinations (Amendments)
Operating Segments
Service Concession Arrangements
Customer Loyalty Programmes
An interpretation of IAS 19

The Directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group except for additional disclosures and the presentational effects of IAS 1.
Basis of Consolidation
The Group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the company and of its subsidiary undertakings drawn
up to 31 March 2008. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the power to control the financial and operating
policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The Group obtains and exercises control through voting rights. Amounts
reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the
accounting policies adopted by the Group.
Acquisitions of subsidiaries are dealt with by the purchase method. The purchase method involves the recognition at fair
value of all identifiable assets and liabilities, including contingent liabilities of the subsidiary, at the acquisition date,
regardless of whether or not they were recorded in the financial statements of the subsidiary prior to acquisition. On initial
recognition, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary are included in the consolidated balance sheet at their fair values,
which are also used as the bases for subsequent measurement in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies.
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Revenue
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the group and the revenue can be reliably
measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable from customers, net of trade
discounts, VAT, other sales related taxes, and after eliminating sales within the Group. Revenue is recognised as follows:
Content
Production revenue comprises broadcaster licence fees and other pre-sales receivable for work carried out in producing
television programmes. Production revenue is recognised over the period of the production. Gross profit on production
activity is recognised over the period of the production and in accordance with the profitability of the underlying contract.
Overspends on productions are recognised as they arise and underspends are recognised on completion of the productions.
Included in production revenue is accrued income in relation to Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) being achieved with respect
to the Teachers’ TV operation with the range being between 0% to 10%. As the full assessment will not be known until August
2008, the Directors have recognised a best estimate accrual.
Revenue also includes sums receivable from the exploitation of programmes in which the company owns rights and is recognised
when all of the following criteria have been met:
i) an agreement has been executed by both parties;
ii) the programme is available for delivery; and
iii) the arrangements are fixed and determinable.
Gross profit from the exploitation of programme rights is recognised when receivable.
Communications
Revenue is recognised in the accounting period in which the goods services are rendered by reference to stage of completion of
the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as a proportion of the total services to be provided.
Publishing: advertising revenue is recognised on date publications are dispatched to customers.
Exhibitions: revenue is recognised when the show has been completed. Deposits received in advance are recorded as deferred
income on the balance sheet.
Online: revenue is recognised at the point of delivery or fulfilment for single/discrete services.
Production Costs
When the Group is commissioned to make a programme by a broadcaster, the broadcaster pays a licence fee for the
programme in their own territory and the Group retains the right to exploit the programme elsewhere.
Where the licence fee exceeds the cost of production, then, due to the uncertain nature of other future revenues, the Group
writes off 100% of the production cost against the licence fee income.
Where the estimated production costs are greater than the licence fee from the broadcaster, production will only take place if
estimates of future income from all sources exceed the excess production costs. Under these circumstances, the excess
production cost is included in ‘Intangible Assets’. The net book value of the production is reduced at the year end by the
income received in the year and the amount held on the balance sheet will be the lesser of the amount of anticipated future
ancillary revenues and the amortised cost of investment.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost net of depreciation and any provision for impairment.
Depreciation is calculated to write down the cost less estimated residual value of all property, plant and equipment by equal
annual instalments over their expected useful lives. The rates generally applicable are:
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Leasehold premises
Motor vehicles
Office equipment
Computer Equipment

over the term of the lease
20% on cost
10% on cost
20% on cost

Useful economic lives are reviewed annually. Depreciation is charged on all additions to, or disposals of, depreciating assets in
the year of purchase or disposal. Any impairment in values is charged to the income statement.
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Subject to the transitional relief in IFRS1, all business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method. Goodwill
represents amounts arising on acquisition of subsidiaries. In respect of business acquisitions acquired since 1 April 2006, goodwill
represents the difference between the cost of the acquisition and the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired. Identifiable
intangibles are those which can be sold separately or which arise from legal rights regardless of whether those rights are separable.
Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is not
amortised but tested annually for impairment.
In respect of acquisitions prior to 1 April 2006, goodwill represents the difference between the cost of the acquisition and the
fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired. The cost and amortisation of goodwill have been adjusted to show a net
position as at the date of transition to IFRS.
Other Intangibles assets
The fair value of other intangible assets acquired as a result of business combinations are capitalised and amortised on a
straight line basis through the income statement. The rates applicable, which represent directors’ best estimate of the useful
economic life, are:
Customer Relations
5–8 years
Magazine Titles
3 years
Customer Contracts
Length of contract
Where websites are identified as income generating, they are capitalised and amortised on a straight line basis through the
income statement over 5 years. Capitalised website costs include external direct costs of material and services and the
payroll and payroll-related costs for employees who are directly associated with the project.
Production costs included in intangible assets are amortised against ancillary income received associated with the production
(see policy relating to production costs).
Leased assets
In accordance with IAS 17, the economic ownership of a leased asset is transferred to the lessee if the lessee bears substantially
all the risks and rewards related to the ownership of the leased asset. The related asset is recognised at the time of inception
of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments plus incidental
payments, if any, to be borne by the lessee.
A corresponding amount is recognised as a finance leasing liability. The interest element of leasing payments represents a
constant proportion of the capital balance outstanding and is charged to the income statement over the period of the lease.
All other leases are regarded as operating leases and the payments made under them are charged to the income statement
on a straight line basis over the lease term.
Lease incentives received are recognised in the income statement as an integral part of the total lease expense.
Inventories
Broadcast
Inventories comprise of costs on productions that are incomplete at the year-end less any amounts recognised as cost of sales.
Communications
Inventories comprise cumulative costs incurred in relation to unpublished titles or events, less provision for future losses and
are valued on the basis of direct costs plus attributable overheads based on normal level of activity. No element of profit is
included in the valuation of inventories.
Programmes in progress at period end
Where productions are in progress at the period end and where the sales invoiced exceed the value of work done the excess
is shown as deferred income; where the sales recognised exceed sales invoiced the amounts are classified as accrued income.
Where it is anticipated that a production will make a loss, the anticipated loss is provided for in full.
Impairment of assets
For the purposes of assessing impairment, non-financial assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). As a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested
at the cash-generating unit level.
Goodwill is allocated to those cash generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the related business
combination and represent the lowest level within the Group at which management monitors the related cash flows. All other
individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell, and
value in use based on an internal discounted cash flow evaluation. Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to
which goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially to the carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is
charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash generating unit. With the exception of goodwill, all assets are subsequently
reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with maturity of less than three months.
Equity
Equity comprises the following:
• Share capital represents the nominal value of equity shares.
• Share premium represents the excess over nominal value of the fair value of consideration received for equity shares, net
of expenses of the share issue.
• Merger Reserve represents the excess over nominal value of the fair value of consideration received for equity shares, where
ordinary shares are issued as consideration for the purchase of subsidiaries in which the group hold a 90% interest or above.
• Retained earnings represents retained profits.
Current and Deferred taxation
Current tax is the tax currently payable based on taxable profit for the year.
Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences. Deferred tax is generally provided
on the difference between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases.
Deferred tax is not recognised in respect of:
• the initial recognition of goodwill that is not tax deductible and
• the initial recognition of an asset or liability unless the related transaction is a business combination or affects tax or
accounting profit. In addition, tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other income tax credits to the Group are
assessed for recognition as deferred tax assets.
Deferred tax liabilities are provided in full, with no discounting. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the underlying deductible temporary differences will be able to be offset against future taxable income. Current
and deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at tax rates that are expected to apply to their respective period of
realisation, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in the income statement, except
where they relate to items that are charged or credited directly to equity in which case the related deferred tax is also charged
or credited directly to equity.
Financial Instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.
Financial Assets
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are recorded at their fair value less provision for any impairment.
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered
into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities.
Bank Borrowings
Interest bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
Finance charges, including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are accounted for on an
effective interest method and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in
the period in which they arise.
Media Loans
Media loans are recorded at the proceeds received and adjusted for foreign exchange movements. Media loans are written off
as grants once the Company has no further obligations with respect to the loans.
Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are stated at their fair value.
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Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities
The Group monitors interest rates and has entered into an interest rate collar to manage its exposures to fluctuating interest
rates. These instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the trade date and are subsequently re-measured at their fair
value on the balance sheet date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in the incomes statement in finance costs.
Underlying the definition of fair value is the presumption that the Group is a going concern without any intention of materially
curtailing the scale of its operations.
In determining the fair value of a derivative, the appropriate quoted market price for an asset held is the bid price, and for a
liability issued is the offer price.
Employee Benefits
Share-based Payments
Under IFRS 2, all share-based payment arrangements granted after 7 November 2002 that had not vested prior to 1 April 2006
are recognised in the financial statements.
Where employees are rewarded using share-based payments, the fair values of employees’ services are determined indirectly
by reference to the fair value of the instrument granted to the employee. This fair value is appraised at the grant date and
excludes the impact of non-market vesting conditions.
All equity-settled share-based payments are ultimately recognised as an expense in the income statement with a
corresponding credit to reserves.
If vesting periods apply, the expense is allocated over the vesting period, based on the best available estimate of the number
of share options expected to vest. Estimates are revised subsequently if there is any indication that the number of share options
expected to vest differs from previous estimates. Any cumulative adjustment prior to vesting is recognised in the current period.
No adjustment is made to any expense recognised in prior periods if share options that have vested are not exercised.
Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital, and
where appropriate share premium.
Retirement benefits
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the income statement
when they are due.
Significant judgements and estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements under IFRS requires the Group to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of policies and reported amounts. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and assumptions which have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities are discussed below.
Impairment of goodwill
The Group is required to test, at least annually, whether goodwill has suffered any impairment. The recoverable amount is
determined based on value in use calculations. The use of this method requires the estimation of future cash flows and the choice
of a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of these cash flows. Actual outcomes could vary. See note 9.
Intangible assets
The Group recognises intangible assets acquired as part of business combinations at fair value at the date of acquisition. The
determination of these fair values is based upon management’s judgement and includes assumptions on the timing and amount
of future incremental cash flows generated by the assets and selection of an appropriate cost of capital. Furthermore, management
must estimate the expected useful lives of intangible assets and charge amortisation on these assets accordingly. See note 9.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation is provided so as to write down the assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives as set out
above. See note 10.
Deferred Consideration
Where deferred consideration is payable in cash and discounting would have a material effect the liability is discounted to its
present value. Where the deferred consideration is contingent and dependent upon future trading performance, an estimate
of the present value of the likely consideration payable is made. See note 17.
Revenue Recognition on Significant Contract
Included in production revenue is accrued income in relation to Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) being achieved with respect
to the Teachers’ TV operation with the range being between 0% to 10%. As the full assessment will not be known until August
2008, the Directors have recognised a best estimate accrual.
Segmental reporting
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products or services (business
segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical segment), which is
subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.

2) SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
The operations of the group are managed in two principle business divisions, content and communications. These divisions are
the basis upon which the management reports its primary segment information.
The Communications division derives its revenues from publishing, websites, event management, video production and specialised
CSR and communications services.
The Content division derives its revenues from the production of Television and Radio content; the management of the Teachers
TV channel; and the creation and management of websites and online TV channels.

Continuing Operations
Revenue
Segment result
Amortisation and impairment of
intangible assets

Communications
2008
2007

Content
2008
2007

Unallocated
2008
2007

2008

Total
2007

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

55,654

39,644

25,735

29,401

–

–

81,389

69,045

4,311

2,352

1,306

1,898

(994)

(1,080)

4,623

3,170

(765)

(24)

Operating profit
Finance costs
Finance income
Income tax expense
Profit for the year

3,858

3,146

(1,060)
354
(324)

(684)
281
(708)

2,828

2,035

Segment Assets

43,988

26,985

15,626

18,171

3,595

2,790

63,209

47,946

Segment Liabilities

(18,173)

(11,109)

(10,076)

(10,785)

(18,035)

(11,617)

(46,284)

(33,511)

10,239

3,707

–

104

–

–

10,239

3,811

769
550
282
–

340
24
251
–

306
–
456
215

277
–
427
–

38
–
29
–

130
–
7
–

1,113
550
767
215

747
24
685
–

Other Segment Items:
Expenditure on intangible assets
Expenditure on property,
plant and equipment
Amortisation
Depreciation
Impairment loss

The Group’s principal operations are in the United Kingdom. Its revenue from external customers in the United Kingdom is
£76.35m (2007: £62.96m), and the total revenue from external customers in other countries is £5.05m (2007: £6.05m).

3) TOTAL OPERATING COSTS
2008
£'000

2007
£'000

Cost of sales
Staff costs (see note 4)
Administrative costs
Leases on premises
Other administrative expenses
Foreign exchange losses
Depreciation
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets

51,454
18,030

47,010
12,717

945
5,544
26
767
765

729
4,678
56
685
24

Total

77,531

65,899
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Included in other administrative expenses is the auditors’ remuneration, including expenses for audit and
non-audit services, as follows:
2008
£'000

2007
£'000

Statutory audit services
Annual audit of the company and the consolidated accounts

25

25

Non-audit related services
Audit of subsidiary companies
Interim
Tax advisory services
Other services

95
12
25
36

75
8
25
55

168

163

4) STAFF COSTS
2008
£'000
16,693
1,148
13

Wages & salaries
Social security & other costs
Share-based payments
Pension costs
Total

2007
£'000
11,550
931
23

176

213

18,030

12,717

2008
443
75
7

2007
334
89
7

525

430

31 March
2008

31 March
2007

The average number of employees employed by the Group during the year was:
Communications
Content
Other
Total
Directors’ emoluments

Basic
Salaries
£'000

Bonus
£'000

Benefits
in kind
£'000

Pension
£'000

Total
£'000

Total
£'000

200
158

45
35

16
1

10
12

271
206

185
135

25
75
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

25
75
–

34
81
–

100

358

80

17

22

577

435

Fees
£'000
Executive Directors
A.M. Connock
N. Patel
Non-Executive Directors
A.B. Walden (Chairman)
R.F.Z. Geldof KBE
T. Hoare

The benefits in kind shown in the above table relate principally to a fully expensed company car and medical health cover for
the Executive Directors and their immediate family.
During the year, £22,000 (2007: £19,000) was paid with respect to personal pension schemes for 2 directors (2007: 2).

5) SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
The charge for share based payments arises from the following schemes:

Approved share option scheme
Unapproved share option scheme

2008
£'000

2007
£'000

13
–

23
–

13

23

Under the terms of the approved and unapproved share option schemes, the Board may offer options to purchase ordinary share
options to employees and other individuals. Share options granted under the company’s schemes are normally exercisable for
an eight to ten year period. The vesting period ranges from the date of grant up to three years. There are no performance
criteria that need to be met before options vest.
Details of the number of share options and the weighted average exercise price (WAEP) outstanding during the year are as follows:
Approved share option scheme
Number

2008
WAEP £

Number

2007
WAEP £

Outstanding at the beginning of the year
Granted during the year
Exercised during the year
Cancelled during the year

1,708,800
–
(55,000)
(100,000)

0.32
–
0.17
0.34

1,758,800
–
(50,000)
–

0.32
–
0.25
–

Outstanding at the end of the year

1,553,800

0.33

1,708,800

0.32

Exercisable at the end of the year

1,383,800

0.30

1,538,800

0.30

Number

2008
WAEP £

Number

2007
WAEP £

695,650
–
–
–

0.32
–
–
–

959,400
–
(263,750)
–

0.29
–
0.21
–

Outstanding at the end of the year

695,650

0.32

695,650

0.32

Exercisable at the end of the year

695,650

0.32

695,650

0.32

Unapproved share option scheme

Outstanding at the beginning of the year
Granted during the year
Exercised during the year
Cancelled during the year

The options outstanding as at 31 March 2008 have the following weighted average exercise prices and expire in the following
financial years:
Expiry

Exercise Price £

2008 No

2007 No

0.22
0.29
0.33
0.63

1,239,450
100,000
485,000
425,000

1,239,450
255,000
485,000
425,000

2,249,450

2,404,450

31 March 2010
31 March 2014
31 March 2015
31 March 2016

55,000 options were exercised and 100,000 options were cancelled during the year.
The fair values of the options granted under the scheme were valued using the Black Scholes model. No options were granted
during the years ended 31 March 2007 and 31 March 2008.
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6) FINANCE COSTS AND INCOME

Finance Costs
Interest payable on bank borrowings
Amortisation of issue costs of bank loans
Interest payable on finance leases
Movement in fair value of hedging instruments
Finance Costs
Finance Income
Bank interest receivable
Net Finance Costs

2008
£'000

2007
£'000

(897)
(104)
(9)
(50)

(633)
(41)
(10)
–

(1,060)

(684)

354

281

(706)

(403)

2008
£'000

2007
£'000

528
(140)

449
(9)

388

440

7) INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Taxation Charge

Current tax expense
Current year before exceptional items
Adjustment for prior years
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (see note 16)

(64)

268

Total income tax expense

324

708

Reconciliation of taxation expense
2008

2007

£'000

£'000

Profit before tax

3,152

2,743

Taxation expense at UK corporation tax rate of 30% (2007: 30%)
Non-taxable income/non-deductible expenses
Effect of tax losses utilised
(Under)/Over provision in prior periods
Impact of tax rate change

946
62
(577)
(140)
33

823
300
(406)
(9)
–

324

708

Total income tax expense

8) EARNINGS PER SHARE
2008

2007

Weighted average number of shares used in basic
earnings per share calculation
Dilutive effect of share options

52,047,080
845,068

51,943,330
1,088,555

Weighted average number of shares used
in diluted earnings per share calculation

52,892,148

53,031,885

£'000
2,533

£'000
1,826

607
13

17
23

3,153

1,866

4.87 p
4.79 p
6.06 p
5.96 p

3.52 p
3.44 p
3.59 p
3.52 p

Profit for period attributable to shareholders
Amortisation and impairment of intangible
assets adjusted for deferred tax impact
Share-based payments
Adjusted profit for period attributable
to equity holders of the parent
Basic Earnings per Share
Diluted Earnings per Share
Adjusted Basic Earnings per Share
Adjusted Diluted Earnings per Share

9) INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill Customer Magazine Customer
relationships
titles contracts
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
Cost
At 1 April 2006
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Internal development
Revised deferred consideration
At 31 March 2007
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Internal development
Revised deferred consideration (see note 17)
At 31 March 2008

15,718
2,342
–
(1,850)

–
1,198
–
–

–
167
–
–

Websites

Total

£'000

£'000

–
–
–
–

–
–
104
–

15,718
3,707
104
(1,850)

16,210

1,198

167

–

104

17,679

6,811
–
300

2,620
–
–

367
–
–

35
–
–

–
106
–

9,833
106
300

23,321

3,818

534

35

210

27,918

Amortisation
At 1 April 2006
Charge for the year

–
–

–
(14)

–
(10)

–
–

–
–

–
(24)

At 31 March 2007

–

(14)

(10)

–

–

(24)

Charge for the year
Impairment charge

–
(215)

(468)
–

(25)
–

(35)
–

(22)
–

(550)
(215)

At 31 March 2008

(215)

(482)

(35)

(35)

(22)

(789)

Net Book Value
At 31 March 2008

23,106

3,336

499

–

188

27,129

At 31 March 2007

16,210

1,184

157

–

104

17,655

Goodwill
The comparatives for the cost and amortisation of goodwill have been adjusted to show a net position as at the
date of transition to IFRS. Goodwill arising on acquisitions after the date of transition to IFRS is attributable to operational
synergies and earnings potential expected to be realised over the longer term.
Customer Relationships
Customer relationships relating to contract publishing relationships are amortised over a 5 to 8 year period which is
representative of the average length of the contract publishing relationships acquired.
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Magazine Titles
Magazine titles are magazines for which the intellectual property is wholly owned by the company.
Websites
Development costs of revenue generating websites are capitalised as intangible assets.
Impairment Tests for Goodwill
The carrying amount of goodwill by operating segment is:
2008
£'000

2007
£'000

Communications
Content

20,741
2,365

13,631
2,579

Total

23,106

16,210

Goodwill is not amortised but, but tested annually for impairment with the recoverable amount being determined from value
in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding the discount rate, growth rates
and forecasted in income and costs.
The Group prepares discounted cash flow forecasts based on financial forecasts approved by management covering a six-year
period, which takes account of both past performance and expectations for future market developments. Cash flows beyond
this six-year period are extrapolated using a growth rate of 2%, which does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for
the Group’s communication business. Management estimates the discount rate using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to media businesses. A pre-tax discount rate of 10.3%
has been used. The main assumption on which the forecast cashflows were based include revenue growth, margin growth,
migration to online and expansion of services in video and other visual products.
During the year goodwill attributable to Cottage Industries Ltd and Hart Davies TV Ltd was written off as they are no longer
expected to be cash generative in the future.

10) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Short leasehold
land and
buildings
£'000

Motor
vehicles
£'000

Office and
computer
equipment
£'000

Total
£'000

Cost
At 1 April 2006
Additions
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Disposals & retirements

207
40
–
(79)

223
53
45
(148)

2,669
549
60
(178)

3,099
642
105
(405)

At 31 March 2007

168

173

3,100

3,441

Additions
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Disposals & retirements

22
–
(26)

153
52
(116)

786
100
(60)

961
152
(202)

At 31 March 2008

164

262

3,926

4,352

(125)
(29)
79

(88)
(52)
128

(1,275)
(604)
175

(1,488)
(685)
382

Depreciation
At 1 April 2006
Charge for the year
Disposals & retirements
At 31 March 2007

(75)

(12)

(1,704)

(1,791)

Charge for the year
Disposals & retirements

(30)
13

(56)
25

(681)
38

(767)
76

At 31 March 2008

(92)

(43)

(2,347)

(2,482)

Net Book Value
At 31 March 2008

72

219

1,579

1,870

At 31 March 2007

93

161

1,396

1,650

Included in the book values above is £159,000 relating to assets held under finance leases (2007:£122,000).

11) INVENTORIES
2008
£'000

2007
£'000

Work in progress – Content
Work in progress – Communications

151
3,452

284
2,478

Total Inventories

3,603

2,762

2008
£'000

2007
£'000

Current
Trade receivables
Less provision for impairment

16,461
(859)

9,036
(445)

Net trade receivables
Other receivables
Prepayments and accrued income

15,602
1,060
2,797

8,591
261
2,342

19,459

11,194

2008
£'000

2007
£'000

15,015
368
219

8,005
483
103

15,602

8,591

2008
£'000

2007
£'000

9,790
1,113
2,732
12,786
3,052

7,641
540
1,884
11,843
395

29,473

22,303

235
1,653

235
–

1,888

235

31,361

22,538

No Inventories were written off during the year.

12) TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired are as follows:

Not more than 3 months
More than 3 months but less than 1 year
More than 1 year

13) TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Current
Trade payables
Other payables
Other taxes and social security
Accruals and deferred income
Deferred consideration payable
Non-current
Accruals and deferred income
Deferred consideration payable
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14) BORROWINGS AND OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Current
Bank loans – secured
Media loans – unsecured
Finance leases – secured
Non-current
Bank loans – secured
Media loans – unsecured
Finance leases – secured
Total

2008
£'000

2007
£'000

3,275
317
50

1,000
28
59

3,642

1,087

10,475
–
89

9,150
270
52

10,564

9,472

14,206

10,559

2008
£'000

2007
£'000

3,275
317
50
9,790
25

1,000
28
59
7,641
–

13,457

8,728

3,275
–
50
25

2,375
270
52
–

3,350

2,697

7,200
39

6,775
–

7,239

6,775

24,046

18,200

Maturity of Financial Liabilities
The maturity of borrowings is as follows:

Repayable within one year and on demand:
Bank loans
Media loans
Finance leases
Trade payables
Derivative instruments
Repayable between one and two years:
Bank loans
Media loans
Finance leases
Derivative instruments
Repayable between two and five years:
Bank loans
Finance leases
Total

Bank loans
Bank Loans relate to a facility with the Bank of Scotland used in the acquisitions of McMillan Scott, Atalink, DBDA, Mongoose
Media and Sovereign Publications. The interest on the facility is based on LIBOR plus a margin. The facility contains
covenants based on Debt to EBITDA ratios, EBITDA interest coverage and CFADS to debt servicing ratios.
Media Loans
Media Loans are loans granted by EU Media and used to finance certain productions. The loans are interest free and
repayment is based on ancillary revenues received from the productions.

15) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial risk management
The Group’s financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise borrowings, cash and liquid resources and various items,
such as trade receivables and trade payables that arise directly from its operations. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group also entered into a derivative transaction, principally an interest rate collar. The purpose of this transaction is to
manage the interest risk arising from the Group’s financing.
The principal financial risks faced by the Group are liquidity/funding, interest rate, foreign currency and counterparty risks.
The policies and strategies for managing these risks are summarised as follows:
A Liquidity/funding risk
The Group’s funding strategy is to ensure a mix of funding sources offering flexibility and cost effectiveness to match the
requirements of the Group. Operating subsidiaries are financed by a combination of retained profits, bank borrowings and
medium term notes.
B Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk in relation to the sterling variable rate financial assets and liabilities. The Group’s
policy is to use derivative contracts where necessary to maintain a mix of fixed and floating rate borrowings to manage this
risk. The structure and maturity of these derivatives correspond to the underlying borrowings and are accounted for as fair
value adjustments in the income statement under finance costs.
At the balance sheet date, collar rate borrowings amounted to £4,000,000 (2007: £Nil) representing 28% (2007: 0%) of the
Group’s gross borrowings.
C Foreign currency risk
Transactional foreign currency exposures arise from both the export of services from the UK to overseas clients, and from
the import of services directly sourced from overseas suppliers. The Group is primarily exposed to foreign exchange in
relation to sterling against movements in US$ and euro.
The Group does not use derivatives to hedge balance sheet and profit and loss translation exposures. As at the balance sheet
date, e399,000 (2007: e399,000) of media loans were outstanding.
All gains and losses are taken to the income statement on translation at the balance sheet date.
D Sensitivity analysis
The table below illustrates the estimated impact on the income statement as a result of market movements in interest rates in
relation to all of the Group’s financial instruments. The Group considers a 1% +/- movement in interest rates to be reasonably
possible based on observation of current market conditions. All other variables are held constant. However, this analysis is for
illustrative purposes only.
The impact in the income statement due to changes in interest rates reflects the effect on the Group’s floating rate debt as at
the balance sheet date.
1%

1%

decrease in
increase in
interest rates interest rates
£m
£m
At 31 March 2007
Impact on income statement and equity: gain/(loss)

102

(102)

At 31 March 2008
Impact on income statement and equity: gain/(loss)

108

(117)
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Derivative financial instruments
2008
Assets Liabilities
£'000
£'000
Current
Interest Rate Collar
Non-current
Interest Rate Collar
Total

Assets
£'000

2007
Liabilities
£'000

–

25

–

–

–

25

–

–

–

25

–

–

–

25

–

–

–

50

–

–

The interest rate collar, which consists of a 6.5% interest rate cap for LIBOR and a 5.7% interest rate floor for LIBOR, was entered
into in relation to the Bank of Scotland facility. At 31 March 2008, £4,000,000 of the facility was subject to the interest rate collar.
Capital policy
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain a capital structure that optimises the cost
of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

16) DEFERRED TAX
Deferred tax is calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using a tax rate of 28% (last year 30%)
for UK differences. The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the period are shown below.

At 1 April 2006
Recognised in the income statement
Acquired on acquisition
At 31 March 2007
Recognised in the income statement
Recognised in the income statement
due to change in tax rate
Acquired on acquisition
At 31 March 2008

Accelerated
capital
allowances
£'000

Losses
carried
forward
£'000

Intangible
assets
£'000

191
24
13

60
124
–

–
7
(410)

228

184

9

15

(5)
–
232

Share
Other
based temporary
payments differences
£'000
£'000

Total
£'000

298
(113)
–

446
(323)
–

995
(281)
(397)

(403)

185

123

317

90

(83)

–

31

(5)
–

56
(509)

(7)
–

(6)
–

33
(509)

194

(766)

95

117

(128)

Deferred tax assets estimated at £128,000 (2007: £273,000) in respect of losses carried forward have not been recognised
due to uncertainties as to whether or not income will arise against which such losses will be utilised.

17) ACQUISITIONS
DBDA
On 15 June 2007 the group acquired the trade and assets of DBDA for initial consideration (including expenses) of £962,000.
The acquisition was made by DBDA Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary created for the purpose of the transaction. DBDA, based in
London, provides specialist content production and consultancy services across education, safety, and community-based
markets. The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows:

Book Value
£'000

Fair Value
Adjustments
£'000

Fair Value
£'000

–
41
382
283
232
(835)
–

1,290
–
–
–
–
–
–

1,290
41
382
283
232
(835)
–

103

1,290

1,393

Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables
Deferred tax
Net assets/(liabilities) acquired
Goodwill capitalised

1,869

Consideration given

3,262

Satisfied by:
Cash
Acquisition expenses
Deferred contingent consideration

900
62
2,300
3,262

The fair value adjustments made to book value relate to the intangible assets identified on the acquisition. Goodwill relating
to the acquisition of DBDA amounted to £1,869,000.
The contribution to the operating profits and revenues for DBDA are set out below:

Revenue
Operating profit

Post Acquisition
15 June 2007 to
31 March 2008
£'000
3,042
847

The DBDA purchase is subject to three additional payments of up to a maximum £766,667 each. These payments are dependant
on DBDA Limited achieving annualised EBIT between £400,000 and £800,000 for the period from acquisition to 31 March 2008
and achieving between £400,000 and £800,000 for the years ending 31 March 2009 and 31 March 2010. At 31 March 2008,
£2,300,000 had been provided for.
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Mongoose Media Limited
On 22 June 2007 Ten Alps Plc purchased the whole of the issued share capital of Mongoose Media Limited (Mongoose) for
initial consideration (including expenses) of £1,792,000. A further £50,000 was paid on 10 October 2007 upon the agreement
of completion accounts. Mongoose is based in London and sells advertising across specialist print and digital media on behalf
of associations and institutions. The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows:

Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables
Current tax liabilities
Deferred tax
Net assets/(liabilities) acquired

Book Value
£'000

Fair Value
Adjustments
£'000

Fair Value
£'000

–
22
69
657
517
(1,023)
(77)
–

1,330
–
–
–
–
–
–
(399)

1,330
22
69
657
517
(1,023)
(77)
(399)

165

931

1,096

Goodwill capitalised

2,266

Consideration given

3,362

Satisfied by:
Cash
Acquisition expenses
Deferred contingent consideration

1,700
142
1,520
3,362

The fair value adjustments made to book value relate to deferred tax relating to the intangible assets identified on the
acquisition. Goodwill relating to the acquisition of Mongoose amounted to £2,266,000.
The contribution to the operating profits for Mongoose and the historical results for the full year to 31 March 2008 are set
out below:

Revenue
Operating profit

Post Acquisition
22 June 2007 to
31 March 2008

Full year
1 April 2007 to
31 March 2008

4,167
646

5,143
623

At 31 March 2008 the Mongoose purchase is subject to two additional payments. A payment of up to a maximum £1,450,000
is payable subject to Mongoose achieving EBIT of up to £725,000 for the period from the date of acquisition to 31 March 2008.
A final payment of up to a maximum £300,000 is payable subject to Mongoose achieving certain new client profit targets. At
31 March 2008, a total £1,520,000 of deferred consideration had been provided for.

Sovereign Publications Ltd
On 7 March 2008 Ten Alps Plc purchased the whole of the issued share capital of Sovereign Publications Limited (Sovereign)
for consideration (including expenses) of £369,000. Sovereign, based in London, is a business to business publisher with a
portfolio of magazine titles and associated websites, principally in the healthcare, finance, technology and energy sectors.
The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows:

Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables
Current tax liabilities
Deferred tax
Net assets/(liabilities) acquired

Book Value
£'000

Fair Value
Adjustments
£'000

Provisional
Fair Value
£'000

–
39
1,263
173
(167)
(3,752)
26
–

367
–
–
–
–
–
–
(110)

367
39
1,263
173
(167)
(3,752)
26
(110)

(2,418)

257

(2,161)

Goodwill capitalised

2,529

Consideration given

369

Satisfied by:
Cash
Acquisition expenses

100
269
369

The fair values of the assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are considered to be provisional due to the proximity
of the acquisition date to the balance sheet date. Goodwill relating to the acquisition of Sovereign amounted to £2,529,000.
The contribution to the operating profits for Sovereign and the historical results for the full year to 31 March 2008 are set
out below:

Revenue
Operating profit

Post Acquisition
7 March 2008 to
31 March 2008

Full year
1 April 2007 to
31 March 2008

2,234
644

3,647
56

The Sovereign acquisition is subject to an additional payment of up to £800,000. This payment is subject
to Sovereign achieving EBIT of up to £817,000 for the period from the date of acquisition to 31 March 2008 and
is to be adjusted downwards by the amount which net liabilities at completion are greater than £1,675,000.
At 31 March 2008, no deferred consideration had been provided for.
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MMA
On 28 November 2007 the group acquired the trade and assets of Multimedia Arts (MMA) for consideration (including
expenses) of £175,000. The acquisition was made by Ten Alps Communications Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary. MMA are
producers of low cost, high quality, on-line video advertising in support of on-line video channels and websites.
The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows:

Book Value
£'000

Fair Value
Adjustments
£'000

Fair Value
£'000

Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment

–
50

35
–

35
50

Net assets/(liabilities) acquired

50

35

85

Goodwill capitalised

90

Consideration given

175

Satisfied by:
Cash
Acquisition expenses

165
10
175

At the date of acquisition, the trade and assets of MMA were immediately amalgamated within Ten Alps Communications
Limited and therefore revenues and operating profit since the date of acquisition cannot be identified.
McMillan Scott & Atalink Limited
Further additional consideration between £1 and £1,750,000 is payable dependent on McMillan-Scott achieving certain
profit targets for the 9 months to 31 December 2006. The amount payable is yet to be formally assessed and at 31 March
2008 a proportion has been provided for. At 31 March 2007 and 2008, £1,750,000 was held in a separate bank account.
An additional consideration payment of £120,000 was made in April 2008 to the CEO of McMillan Scott and was provided
for at 31 March 2008.
Additional fees of £57,000 in respect of the McMillan Scott and the Atalink Limited acquisitions were incurred in the year.
Summary
If all the above acquisitions had been acquired on 1 April 2007, revenue of the group for 2008 would have been £83,265,000.
However, due to a lack of specific data prior to the acquisition of DBDA and MMA, pro-forma profit and loss of the combined
entity for the complete 2008 reporting period cannot be determined reliably.

18) SHARE CAPITAL

Shares
Authorised ordinary shares
of 2p each
Allotted, called up and fully
paid ordinary of 2p each:
At start of year
Shares issued on exercise of
share options
At end of year

2008
Share
capital
£'000

112,500,500

2,250

52,047,080

1041

55,000
52,102,080

Share
premium
£'000

Shares

2007
Share
capital
£'000

Share
premium
£'000

112,500,500

2,250

7,190

51,733,080

1,035

7,129

1

8

314,000

6

61

1,042

7,198

52,047,080

1,041

7,190

Issue of new shares
55,000 (2007: 314,000) ordinary shares having a nominal value of £1,100 (2007: £6,300) were allotted during the year under
the terms of the Company’s share options scheme. The aggregate consideration received was £9,350 (2007: £67,163).

19) CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS
Capital Commitments
The Group had no capital commitments as at 31 March 2007 or 31 March 2008.
Operating Leases
The future minimum rentals under non-cancellable operating leases expiring:
31 March 2008

Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years

31 March 2007

Land and
buildings
£'000

Other
£'000

Land and
buildings
£'000

Other
£'000

1,003
2,449
563

68
57
–

969
2,076
981

68
98
1

4,015

125

4,026

167
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20) RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and
are not disclosed in this note.
Key Management Compensation
Salaries and short-time benefits

2008
£'000

2007
£'000

1,231

951

Key Management includes the Directors and only those members of key management who are members of the Operational Board.

21) TRANSITION TO IFRS
Reconciliation of equity at 1 April 2006

Note
Assets
Non-current
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Current tax liabilities
Borrowings and financial liabilities

a

e,f

f

g,i
g
g

Net current assets
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings and financial liabilities
Deferred tax
Other non-current liabilities

h
h

UK GAAP
1 April
2006
£'000

Effect of
transition
to IFRS
£'000

IFRS
1 April
2006
£'000

15,718
–
1,611
–

–
–
–
995

15,718
–
1,611
995

17,329

995

18,324

2,662
12,978
14,515

–
(659)
–

2,662
12,319
14,515

30,155

(659)

29,496

(25,005)
–
–

1,834
(583)
(1,378)

(23,171)
(583)
(1,378)

(25,005)

(127)

(25,132)

5,150

(786)

4,364

–
–
(10,078)

(9,669)
–
9,669

(9,669)
–
(409)

(10,078)

–

(10,078)

Net assets

12,401

209

12,610

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Merger reserve
Retained earnings

1,035
7,129
2,930
1,006

–
–
–
209

1,035
7,129
2,930
1,215

Total shareholders’ equity
Minority interest

12,100
301

209
–

12,309
301

Total equity

12,401

209

12,610

e,i

Reconciliation of equity at 31 March 2007

Assets
Non-current
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Current tax liabilities
Borrowings and finance liabilities

Note

UK GAAP
31 March
2007
£'000

Effect of
transition
to IFRS
£'000

IFRS
31 March
2007
£'000

b,c,e
c,d
d
e,f

16,577
–
1,754
–

(367)
1,445
(104)
317

16,210
1,445
1,650
317

18,331

1,291

19,622

2,762
11,666
14,368

–
(472)
–

2,762
11,194
14,368

28,796

(472)

28,324

(23,593)
–
–

1,290
(414)
(1,087)

(22,303)
(414)
(1,087)

(23,593)

(211)

(23,804)

5,203

(683)

4,520

–
–
(9,707)

(9,472)
–
9,472

(9,472)
–
(235)

f

g,i
g
g

Net current assets
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings and finance liabilities
Deferred tax
Other non-current liabilities

h
h

(9,707)

–

(9,707)

Net assets

13,827

608

14,435

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Merger reserve
Retained earnings

1,041
7,190
2,930
2,456

–
–
–
608

1,041
7,190
2,930
3,064

Total shareholders’ equity
Minority interest

13,617
210

608
–

14,225
210

Total equity

13,827

608

14,435

UK GAAP
£'000

Effect of
transition
£'000

IFRS
£'000

e,i

Reconciliation of profit for the year ended 31 March 2007
Notes
Revenue

69,045

–

69,045

(65,791)
3,254
(588)

(84)
(84)
564

(65,875)
3,170
(24)

(66,379)

480

(65,899)

Operating profit

2,666

480

3,146

Finance costs
Finance income

(684)
281

–
–

(684)
281

2,263
(627)

480
(81)

2,743
(708)

Profit for the period

1,636

399

2,035

Attributable to:
Equity holders
Minority interest

1,427
209

399
–

1,826
209

1,636

399

2,035

Operating costs before amortisation of intangible assets
Earnings before interest, tax and amortisation (EBITA)
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets

i
b,c

Total operating costs

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

e
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Notes to the Reconciliations
a) IFRS 1, First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, permits companies adopting IFRS for the first
time to apply certain exemptions from the full requirements of IFRS in the transition period. These financial statements
have been prepared on the basis of taking the exemption whereby business combinations prior the Group’s date of
transition to IFRS have not been restated to comply with IFRS 3 Business Combinations. Goodwill of £15,718,000 on
business combinations prior to this date has been frozen at their UK GAAP carrying value as at 1 April 2006.
b) Under IFRS goodwill is not amortised, but tested annually for impairment. The effect of the non amortisation of goodwill is
to add back the amortisation charge by £588,000 at 31 March 2007.
c) The Group acquired Cameron Publishing Ltd on 6 November 2006 and Atalink Limited on 30 March 2007. Application of
IFRS 3 to these business combinations resulted in identification of intangible assets (customer relationships and magazine
titles). Under IFRS these have been recognised separately in the balance sheet at their fair value at the date of the
combination. Under UK GAAP these intangible assets were subsumed within goodwill. The result of this adjustment is to
decrease goodwill and increase intangible assets at the dates of the combinations. At 31 March 2007 the value of
intangible assets was increased by £1,341k (this has also impacted on the deferred tax liability recognised, see note e
below). The value of goodwill at 31 March 2007 was reduced by £1,365k.
d) IAS38 requires that certain intangible assets are shown separately on the Balance Sheet. Intangible assets, other than
those acquired through business combinations, have been identified and consist of items such as software and certain
websites generated in-house. They have been disclosed as Intangible Assets, and the carrying value of Tangible Assets has
been reduced by the same amount.
e) Under FRS 19 deferred tax was recognised only on timing differences; in contrast IAS 12 “Income Taxes” requires the
recognition of deferred tax on all temporary differences. The recognition of intangible assets on the acquisitions resulted
in a number of temporary differences. Under UK GAAP deferred tax was not provided in such cases. The effect of this
adjustment is to create a combined deferred tax liability of £410,000 at the date of the combinations. Goodwill is increased
at those dates of combination by the same amounts. In addition, a deferred tax asset or liability arises on the share
options in issue and holiday accruals. This has resulted in an adjustment to opening reserves at 1 April 2006 of £336,000,
a deferred tax charge for the year ended 31 March 2007 of £81,000.
f) Deferred tax assets are disclosed separately. Whilst they were previously included within Current Assets, they are now
classified as non current.
g) Short term tax payables and borrowings and financial liabilities are disclosed separately, whilst they were previously
included within general creditors.
h) Long term loans and financial liabilities are now shown separately from other non-current liabilities whereas previously
they were grouped together as amounts falling due after one year.
i) IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” requires that an accrual is made for outstanding Holiday Balances due but not taken at the
balance sheet date.

Company Balance Sheet

Note
Fixed assets
Investments in Subsidiaries
Tangible assets
Current assets
Debtors
Cash at bank
Creditors
Amounts falling due within one year

£'000

24
25

26

27

2008
£'000

£'000

2007
£'000

22,472
132

18,384
123

22,604

18,507

4,315
2,915

2,136
2,166

7,230

4,302

(9,382)

(3,916)

Net current (liabilities)/assets

(2,152)

386

Total assets less current liabilities

20,452

18,893

(10,595)

(9,150)

9,857

9,743

1,042
7,354
111
2
1,348

1,041
7,346
111
2
1,243

9,857

9,743

Creditors
Amounts falling due after more than one year

28

Net assets
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Capital reserve
Other reserve
Profit and loss account
Shareholders’ funds

18
29
29
29
29

22) ACCOUNTING POLICIES – COMPANY
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with United Kingdom generally accepted accounting standards. The
principal accounting policies of the Group are set out below. The policies have remained unchanged from the previous year.
(a) Accounting convention
The accounts are prepared under the historical cost convention.
(b) Depreciation
Depreciation is provided so as to write off the costs of tangible fixed assets over their estimated useful lives.
The following are the main annual rates used:
Motor vehicles
20% on straight line basis
Computer equipment
20% on straight line basis
Office equipment
10% on straight line basis
(c) Investments
Investments held as fixed assets are stated at cost less provision for impairment.
(d) Pensions
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the profit and loss
account when they are due.
(e) Deferred taxation
Deferred tax is provided in full on timing differences which result in an obligation at the balance sheet date to pay more tax,
or a right to pay less tax at a future date, at rates expected to apply when they crystallise based on current tax rates and law.
Timing differences arise from the inclusion of items of income and expenditure in taxation computations in periods different
from those which are included in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is regarded
as more likely than not that they will be recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.
(f) Share based payments
All share-based payment arrangements granted after 7 November 2002 that had not vested prior to 1 April 2006 are
recognised in the financial statements.
All goods and services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based payment are measured at their fair values.
Where employees are rewarded using share-based payments, the fair values of employees’ services are determined indirectly
by reference to the fair value of the instrument granted to the employee. This fair value is appraised at the grant date and
excludes the impact of non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets).
All equity-settled share-based payments are ultimately recognised as an expense in the profit and loss account with a
corresponding credit to equity.
If vesting periods or other non-market vesting conditions apply, the expense is allocated over the vesting period, based on
the best available estimate of the number of share options expected to vest. Estimates are revised subsequently if there is
any indication that the number of share options expected to vest differs from previous estimates. Any cumulative adjustment
prior to vesting is recognised in the current period. No adjustment is made to any expense recognised in prior periods if
share options that have vested are not exercised.
Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital, and
where appropriate share premium.

23) EMPLOYEES – COMPANY
31 March 2008
£'000
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs

Average number of employees
Management
Administration

31 March 2007
£'000

569
72
39

538
68
29

680

635

3
2

5
2

5

7

The costs related to the directors are disclosed in note 4.
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24) INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES – COMPANY
£'000
Total cost of acquisitions at 1 April 2007
Additions in year
Change in estimate of deferred consideration

18,384
3,788
300

Investment in subsidiaries at 31 March 2008

22,472

Investment in subsidiaries at 31 March 2007

18,384

The principal subsidiaries of the Group during the year were:
Country of incorportation,
registration and operation
Atalink Limited
Blakeway Productions Limited
*Brook Lapping Productions Limited
~Camerons Publishing Limited
DBDA Limited
^Education Digital Limited
HDTV Limited
Mongoose Media Limited
Sovereign Publishing Limited
Ten Alps Live Limited
Ten Alps Communications Limited
(formerly Ten Alps Publishing Limited)
Ten Alps TV Limited

Class of
capital

% held

England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

100% Direct
100% Direct
100% Indirect
100% Indirect
100% Direct
70% Indirect
100% Direct
100% Direct
100% Direct
100% Direct
100% Direct

England & Wales

Ordinary

100% Direct

Description of
activity
Contract Publishing
Film & Radio Production
Film & Radio Production
Contract Publishing
CSR consulting
Channel Management
Film Production
Contract Publishing
Contract Publishing
Event Organisers
Contract Publishing
& Advertising
Film & Radio Production

* Subsidiary of Brook Lapping Holdings Limited
^ Subsidiary of Brook Lapping Productions Limited
~ Subsidiary of Ten Alps Publishing Limited

25) TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS – COMPANY

Motor
vehicles
£'000

Office and
computer
equipment
£'000

£'000

At 31 March 2007
Additions

–
32

130
6

130
38

At 31 March 2008

32

136

168

Accumulated Depreciation
At 31 March 2007
Charge for the year

–
(3)

(7)
(26)

(7)
(29)

At 31 March 2008

(3)

(33)

(36)

Net Book Value
At 31 March 2008

29

103

132

At 31 March 2007

–

123

123

Cost

Total

26) DEBTORS – COMPANY

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings
Other debtors
Deferred taxation
Prepayments and accrued income

2008
£'000

2007
£'000

3,897
172
41
205

1,829
35
31
241

4,315

2,136

2008
£'000

2007
£'000

3,275
332
3,099
74
2,095
507

1,000
184
1,964
9
395
364

9,382

3,916

27) CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR – COMPANY

Bank loans
Trade creditors
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings
Other creditors
Deferred contingent consideration
Accruals and deferred income

28) CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR – COMPANY

Bank loans
Deferred contingent consideration

2008
£'000

2007
£'000

10,475
120

9,150
–

10,595

9,150

29) RESERVES – COMPANY
Share premium
account
£'000

Capital
reserve
£'000

Other
reserve
£'000

Profit and
loss account
£'000

Balance at 1 April 2007
Shares issued
Recognition of equity-settled share-based
payments in the year
Retained profit for the year

7,346
8

111
–

2
–

1,243
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

13
92

Balance at 31 March 2008

7,354

111

2

1,348
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CREATING FACTUAL MEDIA

Notice of annual general meeting
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Ten Alps plc will be held at 9 Savoy Street London WC2E 7HR
on 19 August 2008 at 12.00 p.m. for the following purposes:
Ordinary Business
To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following as special resolutions:
1. To receive the Company’s audited financial statements for the year to 31st March 2008, and the Directors’ report and the
Auditors’ report on those financial statements.
2. To reappoint Grant Thornton LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.
3. To reappoint Nitil Patel as Executive Finance Director.
Special Business
To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following as special resolutions:
4. THAT the Articles of Association of the Company be amended by deleting in the present Article 31.2, the words “two times”
and replacing them with the words “five times”.
5. THAT, in substitution for the Directors' existing authorities, the Directors be and are hereby generally and unconditionally:
(a) authorised, pursuant to section 80 of the Companies Act 1985 (the “Act”) to exercise all powers of the Company to allot
relevant securities (as defined in section 80(2) of the Act) up to an aggregate nominal amount of £521,020; and
(b) empowered, pursuant to section 95(1) of the Act, to allot equity securities (as defined in section 94(2) of the Act) for
cash up to an aggregate nominal amount of £156,306 pursuant to the authority set out in paragraph (a) above as if
section 89(1) of the Act did not apply to such allotment provided always that such authority and power is granted for the
period commencing on the date of the adoption of this resolution and ending on the earlier of the date which is one year
from the date of adoption of this resolution and the date of the 2009 Annual General Meeting of the Company.
6. THAT the Directors of the Company be and they are hereby generally and unconditionally authorized for the purpose of section
166 of the Companies Act 1985 (the “Act”) to make one or more market purchases (within the meaning of section 163(3) of the
Act) of ordinary shares of 2p each in the issued share capital of the Company (“Ordinary Shares”) provided that:
(a) the maximum aggregate number of Ordinary Shares authorised to be purchased is 7,810,102 (representing 14.99 per cent
of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company);
(b) the minimum price which may be paid for an Ordinary share (exclusive of expenses) is nominal value from time to time;
(c) the maximum price which may be paid for an ordinary share (exclusive of expenses) is an amount equal to 105 per cent
of the average of the middle market quotations for an ordinary share as derived from the London Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the day on which the purchase is made;
(d) this authority is granted for the period commencing on the date of the adoption of this resolution and ending on the
earlier of the date which is one year from the date of adoption of this resolution and the date of the 2009 Annual
General Meeting of the Company; and
(e) the Company may make a contract to purchase ordinary shares under this authority which will or may be executed wholly
or partly after the expiry of the authority and may make a purchase of ordinary shares in pursuance of such a contract.
By order of the Board
Nitil Patel
Secretary
16 June 2008
Registered office: Great Michael House, 14 Links Place, Edinburgh EH6 7EZ

Notes:
1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and, on a poll, vote
on his or her behalf. The proxy need not be a member of the Company.
2. To be effective, the instrument appointing a proxy and any authority under which it is executed (or a notarially certified copy
of such authority) must be lodged with the Company's Registrars (Capita IRG plc, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3
4TU) not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the meeting. A form of proxy is enclosed with this notice. Completion
and return of the form of proxy will not preclude shareholders from attending and voting in person at the meeting.
3. Pursuant to regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, the Company specifies that only those
shareholders registered in the Register of Members of the Company as at 12.00 p.m. on 15 August 2008 shall be entitled to
attend or vote at the meeting in respect of the number of shares registered in their names at the time. Changes to entries
on the Register of Members of the Company after 12.00 p.m. on 15 August 2008 shall be disregarded in determining the
rights of any person to attend or vote at the meeting.

Key Contacts
Ten Alps Plc
Head Office,
9 Savoy Street,
London WC2E 7HR
Tel: 0207 878 2311
Fax: 0207 878 2483
www.tenalps.com
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Investor Relations
& Press Enquiries
Pelham PR,
No 1 Cornhill, Bank,
London EC3V 3ND
Tel: 0207 743 6670

Blakeway
6 Anglers Lane,
London NW5 3DG
Tel: 0208 740 4780
www.blakeway3bm.com
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& Company Number
Great Michael House,
14 Links Place,
Edinburgh EH6 7EZ
Tel: 0131 553 9200
Company No: SC75133
Vat Registration: 480 722 939
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Capita IRG Plc,
The Registry,
34 Beckenham Road
Beckenham,
Kent BR3 4TU
Corporate Finance/Broker
Collins Stewart,
9th Floor, 88 Wood Street,
London EC2V 7QR
Tel: 0207 523 8700
Banker
Bank of Scotland,
38 Threadneedle Street,
London EC2P 2EH
Auditor
Grant Thornton LLP,
Grant Thornton House,
Melton Street ,
London NW1 2EP
Tel: 0870 733 6700
Solicitors
Reynolds Porter Chamberlain,
Tower Bridge House,
St Katharine’s Way,
London E1W 1AA
Tel: 0203 060 6000
Fax: 0203 060 7000

Brook Lapping
6 Anglers Lane,
London NW5 3DG
Tel: 0207 428 3100
www.brooklapping.com

Blakeway North
Bridgewater House,
Whitworth Road,
Manchester M1 6LT
Tel: 0161 832 6000
Teachers TV
16 – 18 Berners Street,
London W1T 3LN
Tel: 0207 182 7430
www.teachers.tv
Kent TV
Maidstone Studios,
New Cut Road,
Kent ME1 45N
Tel: 01622 684403
www.kenttv.com

Ten Alps RMA
RMA House, Western Rd,
Fareham, Hants PO16 0NS
Tel: 01329 221616
www.tenalpsrma.com
Ten Alps MTD
Great Michael House,
14 Links Place,
Edinburgh EH6 7EZ
Tel: 0131 553 9200
www.tenalpsmtd.com
Ten Alps Live
9 Savoy St,
London WC2E 7HR
Tel: 0207 878 2484
www.tenalpslive.com
DBDA
Pin Point, Rosslyn Crescent,
Harrow HA1 2SU
Tel: 0870 333 7771
www.dbda.co.uk
Atalink Ltd
40 Bowling Green Lane,
London EC1R 0NE
Tel: 0207 074 7700
www.atalink.com

COMMUNICATIONS
DIVISION

Sovereign Publications
32 Woodstock Grove,
London W12 8LE
Tel: 0208 735 0101
www.sovereign-publications.com

Ten Alps Publishing
9 Savoy St,
London WC2E 7HR
Tel: 0207 878 2300
www.tenalpspublishing.com

Mongoose Media
2 Lonsdale Road,
London NW6 6RD
Tel: 0207 306 0300
www.mongoosemedia.com

Ten Alps Publishing
Bridgewater House,
Whitworth Road,
Manchester M1 6LT
Tel: 0161 832 6000
www.tenalpspublishing.com

Ten Alps DFD
Trelawney House,
Chestergate, Macclesfield,
Cheshire SK11 6DW
Tel: 01625 613000

Ten Alps Publishing
Trelawney House,
Chestergate, Macclesfield,
Cheshire SK11 6DW
Tel: 01625 613000
www.tenalpspublishing.com

Twenty First Century Media
Newcastle Upon Tyne
Old Brewery Court
156 Sandyford Road
Newcastle Upon Tyne
NE2 1XG
T 0191 580 0015
www.twentyfirstcenturymedia.com

Ten Alps Publishing
2 Earls Court,
5th Avenue Business Park,
Team Valley,
Tyne & Wear NE11 0HF
Tel: 0191 499 4200
Fax: 0191 499 4205
www.tenalpspublishing.com
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